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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION


This is an appeal from a final order of the United States District Court Eastern District of California, Sacramento Division. This Court’s jurisdiction is based on 28 U.S.C. § 1291 (1982).

Standard of review


The standard of review for an appellate court examining a district court’s interpretation of a statute is de novo. Tyler v. Douglas, 280 F.3d 116, 121 (2d Cir. Vt. 2001). 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I.
Did the District Court err in ruling that Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits of their claim under the Wild Free-Roaming Horses and Burros Act?

II.
Did the District Court err in ruling that Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits of their claim under the National Environmental Policy Act?

III.
Did the District Court err in ruling that the balance of hardships did not favor Plaintiffs?


STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Procedural History


On October 1, 2009, Plaintiffs’ motion for a preliminary injunction of the Bureau of Land Management’s (BLM) Gather Plan, designed to resolve the current problem of the overpopulation of wild range horses on Rafiki Mountain Wild Horse Range (RMWHR), was denied by District Court Judge Sybil K. Mali. Plaintiffs filed a timely appeal on all aspects of the District Court’s ruling.  

B. Statement of the Facts


In 1969, the RMWHR was created designating 36,000 acres to protect the range horses, native wildlife and the local watershed. (R. 2.). In 1992, BLM determined the appropriate management level (ALM) for the RMWHR is between 85 and 105 horses. (R. 2.). The ALM represents the optimum number of horses needed to maintain herd viability and to protect the RMWHR’s environmental integrity. (R. 2.). 


BLM determined that at present, 100 of the 190 Rafiki Mountain horses were “excess” and in August 2009, created the Gather Plan to round up and remove the “excess” horses from RHWHR. (R. 2.). The round up was scheduled for September 2009 but was postponed to due budgetary problems. (R. 3.). Accordingly, Plaintiffs filed the current lawsuit after the finalization of the Gather Plan by BLM. (R. 3.).  


Plaintiffs argued that the Gather Plan violated the Wild Free-Roaming Horse and Burros Act (WFHBA) and the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). (R. 3.). Plaintiffs then moved for a preliminary injunction to stop BLM from initializing the Gather Plan. (R. 3.).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

  
The District Court erred in finding that Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate a likelihood of success for their claim under the WFRHA. The Court clearly misinterpreted the meaning of the term “removal” in considering whether the complete removal of all 190 range horses violated the WFHBA. The term “removal” should be applied to all 190 range horses instead of Judge Mali’s use of the term “removal” with regards to only the final number of horses permanently removed from the range after completion of the Gather Plan. The Gather Plan describes the removal of all 190 horses from the range for an indefinite period of time which requires the term “removal” to be applied to all of the range horses.


Second, the District Court erroneously concluded that Plaintiffs’ claims regarding NEPA would not succeed on the merits because they did not scientifically prove there could be environmental problems with the Gather Plan. Thus, BLM violated the requirements of the NEPA. The Court openly questions BLM’s use of the studies conducted in 1992, 2002, and 2003 to conclude the need for the Gather Plan and BLM’s determination of 100 excess horses. (R. 10.). The Court wrongfully dismissed inconclusive evidence and evidence demonstrating short-term and immediate affects that the Gather Plan has on the RMWHR. The Court relied on an inadequate environmental assessment (EA) to determine no environmental impact and erroneously found BLM did not have to complete an environmental impact statement (EIS). 


Finally, the District Court erred in concluding Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate the greater presence of hardships in plaintiffs’ favor. The District Court completely ignored any and all economic impact of the Gather Plan. No consideration was given to recent increases in tourism and permit purchases for wild horse related activities. Additionally, the court erroneously concluded the Gather Plan took into account the multi-use nature of the RMWHR. This conclusion is completely unfounded based on the EA’s determination of immediate environmental hardships as well as the complications with hunting season on RMWHR that will occur during the Gather Plan. 


The Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit reverse the District Court’s Ruling and allow for injunctive relief against BLM’s Gather Plan.

ARGUMENT
I. The District Court erred in ruling that Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits for their claim under the Wild Free-Roaming Horses and Burros Act (WFRHA).


In the District Court’s opinion, Judge Mali establishes that the Court cannot second-guess the wisdom of agency actions; rather, it may only determine whether there has been a violation of law or a “clear error in judgment.” (R. 4.). Due to a lack of consideration of several major factors relating to the Bureau of Land Management’s (BLM) Gather Plan, Judge Mali erroneously concluded that Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate a likelihood of success for their claim under the WFRHA. 

A. The District Court Erred in Interpreting the Term of “Removal” Because the Court Did Not Give Deference to 16 U.S.C.A. § 1333(b)(2) (West 2004). 


Judge Mali clearly misinterpreted the meaning of the term “removal” in considering whether the complete removal of all 190 range horses violated the WFHBA. The term “removal” should be applied to all 190 range horses instead of Judge Mali’s use of the term “removal” as only being applicable to the final number of horses permanently removed from the range after completion of the Gather Plan. The Gather Plan describes the removal of all 190 horses from the range for an indefinite period of time which requires the term “removal” to be applied to all of the range horses.



Blacks Law Dictionary defines removal as “the transfer or moving of a person or thing from one location, position, or residence to another.” Blacks Law Dictionary 630 (8th ed. 2004). This is exactly what BLM intends to do with all 190 horses. BLM admits that it cannot determine how long all horses will remain in captivity and how long it will take for their return to the range. Because there are clearly no time restrictions involved with defining what constitutes “removal”, transferring all of the horses from the range constitutes removal of all 190 horses. 


According to the above definition, the Gather Plan removes all 190 horses from the Rafiki Mountain Wild Horse Range (RMWHR). BLM openly violates the WFHBA by removing more horses than what BLM has deemed “excess.” Although §1333(b)(2) does stipulate that the Secretary of the Interior can act with only limited information available when determining the existence of excess range horses, §1333(b)(2) describes the steps the Secretary must take in removing the horses. Those steps are as follows: 

[O]n the basis of all information currently available to him, that an overpopulation exists on a given area of the public lands and that action is necessary to remove excess animals, he shall immediately remove excess animals from the range so as to achieve appropriate management levels. Such action shall be taken, in the following order and priority, until all excess animals have been removed so as to restore a thriving natural ecological balance to the range, and protect the range from the deterioration associated with overpopulation:

(A) The Secretary shall order old, sick, or lame animals to be destroyed in the most humane manner possible;

(B) The Secretary shall cause such number of additional excess wild free-roaming horses and burros to be humanely captured and removed for private maintenance and care for which he determines an adoption demand exists by qualified individuals, and for which he determines he can assure humane treatment and care (including proper transportation, feeding, and handling… and

(C) The Secretary shall cause additional excess wild free-roaming horses and burros for which an adoption demand by qualified individuals does not exist to be destroyed in the most humane and cost efficient manner possible.

16 U.S.C.A. § 1333(b)(2) (West 2004).


BLM violates the WFHBA in two major ways. First, BLM is not humanely removing or destroying sick, old, or lame horses. Instead, BLM is removing all of the horses from the range regardless of their health or age which is clearly what Congress had not intended by creating this statute. Thus, BLM is obviously violating § 1333(b)(2). Second, by BLM removing all horses from RMWHR instead of only those horses properly labeled “excess” as designated in the Appropriate Management Level (AML), it is again in clear violation of § 1333(b)(2). By creating this statute, it was Congress’ clear intention to only permit the removal of sick, old, lame or excess horses and not all wild range horses. 

B. The District Court was Erroneous in their Determination of an Excess of 100 Horses on the Range and the BLM Should Be Required to Complete an EIS. 


The Administrative Protective Act sets the standard for judicial review of agency decisions.
 5 USCA §706(2)(A)(1966). When examining an agency’s construction of a statute to determine whether it is in accord with the law, the court applies a two-pronged test articulated by the United States Supreme Court in Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. NRDC, Inc., 467 U.S. 837 (1984). First, the court determines whether Congress has directly addressed the issue being litigated. Id. at 842. In making this determination, the court is permitted to use the tools of statutory construction. Id. at 843 n.9. If Congress has addressed the issue, the court and the agency must carry out the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress. Id. at 842-843. However, if Congress has not addressed the issue, rather than impose its own interpretation, the court determines whether the agency’s interpretation is based on a permissible statutory construction. Id. at 843.


Because Congress has not addressed this issue, the District Court should not rely on BLM’s interpretation because it has a history of clear error in judgment based on the current status of the RMWHR. It is their management of the range that has caused almost double of the amount of horses present necessary to have an environmentally thriving wild horse range. The Court must hold BLM to a stricter standard after allowing them great leeway for the past 30 years in managing the RMWHR. 


The Environmental Assessment (EA) establishes that the past actions regarding the management of the wild horses have resulted in the current wild horse population within the RMWHR. Wild horse management has contributed to the present resource condition and wild horse structure within the gather area. See The Environmental Assessment, (No. 09-1968). Excess wild horses were allowed to remain on the RMWHR during drought years, thereby magnifying the deterioration of the range that otherwise would have occurred at a slower rate. Id. The wild horse population over the last decade has been on average 60 horses over the established AML while drought conditions have prevailed. This has led to the current situation of deterioration of the range and not the present range horses. Id. 

It is even more obvious that BLM’s Gather Plan is arbitrary and capricious based on the original designated time for the Gather Plan. Defendants originally wanted to commence the Gather Plan in mid-September 2008. According to the EA, this would have been during the horses’ foaling season (late-summer and fall). If it were not for budgetary concerns, BLM would have commenced the Gather Plan not only during an extremely important time of year for the range horses, but also during the RMWHR’s main recreational time when tourists visit the range to see the wild range horses. This shows complete lack of concern for the preservation and welfare of the horses as well as others utilizing the multi-use land. 


In American Horse Protection Ass'n, Inc. v. Watt, 694 F.2d 1310 (C.A.D.C.1982), plaintiffs requested extensive studies to determine the definition of excess, including a study during different seasons before determining the proper number of excess horses. The Court states that apparently, the district court read the 1978 revision of section 1333(b)(2) to specify only how animals are to be removed from the range, not when their numbers can be determined to be “excess.” Id. (emphasis added). The district court therefore held that even the amended Wild Horse Act requires, pre-roundup, “careful and detailed consideration” of “ all alternative courses of action that would have a less severe impact on the wild horse population.” Id. (emphasis added).

In determining the true number of excess horses on the range, Plaintiffs are simply requesting a complete Environmental Impact Study (EIS)
 to determine the current state of the range. BLM’s determination of 100 excess horses is based on extremely prejudicial information compiled during droughts that occurred over 5 years ago. There is no consideration for any recent data regarding well above average precipitation of recent years. Thus, the District Court violated the National Environmental Policy Act for the Agency to proceed with the roundup before completing the EIS.


Congressional policy states that wild free-roaming horses and burros shall be protected from capture, branding, harassment, or death; and to accomplish this, they are to be considered in the area where presently found, as an integral part of the natural system of the public lands. 16 USCA § 1331. Thus, management of wild horses and burros shall be undertaken with the objective of limiting the animals’ distribution to heard areas. Management shall be at the minimum level necessary to attain the objectives identified in approved land use plans and heard management plans. 43 C.F.R. § 4710.4. The last round up of range horses took place in 2006 where BLM used a bait trapping technique. In 1997, 2001 and 2003, BLM used helicopter drive trapping. Prior to 1997, all gathering was accomplished exclusively on horseback. See The Environmental Assessment, (No. 09-1968).  


Even though at the time of all four prior gatherings BLM determined an excess of an average of 60 horses on the range, BLM did not immediately remove all excess horses from the range as they currently claim is necessary under the WFHBA. Between the gathering of horses during 2003 and 2006, BLM admits the RMWHR experienced periods of extreme drought. If BLM is obligated to remove all horses immediately from RMWHR to attain the proper AML, then why did this not occur in the previous gatherings? 

C. The District Court Should Have Found that the Specific Round-Up Methods Will Expose the Horses to Unnecessary Suffering, Inhumane Treatment, Harassment, and Potentially Death. 


Under the WFRHA, the objectives of these regulations are the protection of wild horses and burros from unauthorized capture, branding, harassment or death, and humane care and treatment of the wild horses and burros. 43 C.F.R. § 4700.0-2. Humane treatment means handling compatible with animal husbandry practices accepted in the veterinary community, without causing unnecessary stress or suffering to the wild horse or burro. 43 C.F.R. § 4700.0-5(e). 


The Court should have taken into consideration the amount of stress placed on the horses during any sort of gathering process. As stated above, stress was intentionally factored in statutory consideration when creating the WFRHA. Judge Mali erroneously disregards consideration of stress by interpreting that Plaintiffs are arguing BLM should not attempt to capture any horse. (R. 8.).


BLM acknowledges the use of Long Range Acoustic Devices (LRADS) and Active Denial System (ADS) have never been used or tested for rounding up animals or for any other form of animal control. (R. 8.). The nature of the wild range horses makes them very hard to capture and keep in captivity and thus, the utmost precautions should be used to ensure their safety. Therefore, the Gather Plan exposes the horses to extensive and unnecessary psychological and physical stress and pain throughout the entire process. 


The removal of 190 horses using LRAD, ADS, rubber bullets, and helicopter drive trapping will also significantly impact the surrounding environment. LRAD’s emits a highly directional beam of significant ambient noise. Although the noise is meant to only direct the horses towards the gathering cites, there is no scientific data suggesting what may happen to other animals in the area that are inadvertently exposed to the noise. In addition, the ADS projects a focused beam of millimeter waves to induce an intolerable heat sensation on the adversary’s skin and will clearly cause stress and probable harm on the horses. When testing ADS, the Human Effect Advisory Panel acknowledged possibilities of irreversible damage to eyes and skin, as well as reflective problems and instances of second-degree burns and higher than intended burning sensations when ADS is used improperly.


This technology has never been used on such wild animals before and neither the BLM nor the EA has any determination as to what affects these techniques may have on the range horses. Using this system alone could cause irreversible harm to the range horses which in turn will limit BLM’s selection of horses for return to the range. Rubber bullets are known to pierce skin and if not shot correctly could permanently injury the range horses. Because the trained sharp shooters are aiming from a moving helicopter at moving targets, even expertly trained professional sharp shooters would have difficulty in such an uncontrolled environment. Accuracy is not guaranteed based on shooting experience.  


Judge Mali erroneously contended that one could argue that methods used in the Gather Plan make more serious and potentially lethal weapons unnecessary. (R. 8.). Never in previous case history has there ever been a need for serious or lethal techniques to round up wild horses. In fact, there are much less serious techniques that could be used in gathering the horses and ensuring their safety. Judge Mali erred in not considering less harmful techniques in her opinion.

II. The District Court erred when ruling that Plaintiffs failed to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits of their claim under the National Environment Policy Act. 

A. An Agency Must Do More to Avoid Preparing an EIS Under These Circumstances Than to Merely Express its View That the Potential Threat, is Unlikely to Occur.


The EA acknowledges that “the impact of stress include[s] a decrease in herd growth or number of live births” might result from the gather methods, but expresses the view that such abuse “would not achieve the stated objectives for wild horse herd management areas.” See The Environmental Assessment, (No. 09-1968). The potential impacts, therefore, are nowhere described and there is no attempt whatsoever to quantify the degree of potential harm so that it may be weighed and balanced against the perceived risk of such harm coming to pass. In short, BLM did not take a hard look at the potential degrading environmental impacts which they conceded might result from program abuse.


NEPA is an exceptionally broad statute which mandates the preparation of an EIS prior to implementing “major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(c). The agency's decision to prepare an EIS is not a discretionary one: “[a]n EIS must be prepared for actions that may significantly affect the quality of the human environment.” Foundation for North America Wild Sheep v. United States Dept. of Agriculture, 681 F.2d 1172, 1177, n.24 (9th Cir.1982). Unless unreasonable, an agency's determination not to require an EIS must be upheld, id. at 1177, but “[t]he spirit of the [NEPA] would die aborning if the facile, ex parte decision that the project was minor or did not significantly affect the environment were too well shielded from impartial review.” Id. at 1182-83, citing Save Our Ten Acres v. Kreger, 472 F.2d 463, 466 (5th Cir.1973). Thus, the standard of review in this Circuit has been clearly outlined: The standard for determining whether the implementation of a proposal would significantly affect the quality of the human environment is whether “the plaintiff has alleged facts which, if true, show that the proposed project may significantly degrade some human environmental factor”. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. v. Hodel, 618 F.Supp. 848 (D.C.Cal.1985). A determination that significant effects on the human environment will in fact occur is not essential. Id. at 873. If substantial questions are raised whether a project may have a significant effect upon the human environment, an EIS must be prepared. Foundation, 681 F.2d at 1177-78 (emphasis in original).


The Court erroneously concluded that BLM’s removal of 190 horses and return of 90 horses to the range has no environmental impact on the range. Judge Mali openly questions BLM’s use of the studies conducted in 1992, 2002, and 2003 to conclude the need for the Gather Plan and BLM’s determination of 100 excess horses. (R. 10.). No consideration is taken with regards to the health of all horses or the Gather Plan’s impact on what BLM would consider the top genetically compiled horses. There is no way to determine whether those horses BLM deems genetically superior would survive the Gather Plan. It is extremely possible that some horses BLM wished to return back to the range would suffer irreversible physical and psychological harm causing an ultimate decease in the future horse population. By returning such a significantly smaller number of horses to the range (90), BLM assumes only the best horses will survive the Gather Plan and return to the range. This is a huge assumption to make when dealing with the future of a species and should not be dismissed so quickly by the court. Thus, an agency must do more to avoid preparing an EIS under these circumstances than to merely express its view that the potential threat, is unlikely to occur.


The EA, and particularly its failure to address “crucial factors, consideration of which was essential to a truly informed decision” renders its determination of no significant impact plainly unreasonable. Foundation, 681 F.2d at 1178. Additionally, according to the EA, damage to the RMWHR will occur during the Gather Plan. (R. 9.). Therefore, since BLM does not know the duration of the Gather Plan, it is extremely possible that damage admitted by the EA to the RMWHR would be much greater than expected. 

B. The BLM Improperly Concluded That a Comprehensive EIS was Not Required and the EIS Will Likely Find There to be a Significant Affect on the Human Environment.


Pursuant to 40 C.F.R. § 1501.4, a federal agency contemplating a project must determine whether to prepare an environmental impact statement. In doing so, the agency must determine under its procedures supplementing the NEPA regulations whether the proposal is either one that normally requires an environmental impact statement or one that normally does not require either an environmental impact statement or an environmental assessment. 40 C.F.R. § 1501.4(a). If the proposed action is not covered within either of these categories, the agency is required to provide an environmental assessment (“EA”) pursuant to 40 C.F.R. §§ 1501.4(b), 1508.9. Based on the EA, the agency determines whether to prepare an environmental impact statement (“EIS”). 40 C.F.R. § 1501.4. If the agency determines not to prepare an EIS it must prepare a finding of no significant impact (“FONSI”) and make the finding available to the affected public as specified in 40 C.F.R. §§ 1501.4(e), 1506.6. A FONSI means a document briefly presenting the reasons why the action will not have a significant effect on the human environment and for which an environmental impact statement therefore will not be prepared. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.13.

In the case at bar, the BLM violated these principles by failing to develop an EIS for the Gather Plan. Specifically, that BLM violated NEPA by failing to consider all pertinent direct and indirect effects of the Gather Plan in its EA and FONSI, including (1) the removal of 190 horses from the RMWHR; (2) the ultimate reduction in herd size by 100 horses; and (3) the methods used for the round-up. (R. 10.). The BLM improperly concluded that a comprehensive EIS was not required because the Gather Plan would not significantly affect the human environment.

The Ninth Circuit has summarized the court's role in reviewing an agency's decision's in regard to NEPA requirements as follows: A court should not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the environmental consequences of the agency's actions. Kleppe v. Sierra Club, 427 U.S. 390, 410 n.21 (1976). An agency's determination that a particular project does not require the preparation of an EIS is to be upheld unless unreasonable. Foundation, 681 F.2d at 1177. In judging “reasonableness,” “[a] court should not substitute its judgment for that of an agency if the agency's decision was ‘fully informed and well-considered.’ ” Friends of Endangered Species, Inc. v. Jantzen, 760 F.2d 976, 986 (9th Cir.1985), (quoting Vermont Yankee Nuclear Power Corp. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 435 U.S. 519, 558 (1978). In the case at bar, the Court clearly states it “has some reservations about the BLM’s calculation of the AML, especially given the potentially-stale data it relied upon”. (R. 10.). Thus, the agency’s decision was clearly not fully informed and well-considered which violates the NEPA. 

According to the Court’s decision, NEPA is aimed at ensuring that agencies apprise themselves of the environmental consequences of their projects and consider a reasonable range of alternatives, including those with fewer adverse environmental impacts than the proposed action. (R. 9.). The EA provided did not include environmental impacts of the alternatives actions. They were dismissed solely for not being an immediate solution to all problems regarding the overpopulation. As stated in Section I(a), only now is BLM considering the immediate removal of all excess horses to achieve the proper AML. This was not considered for previous gatherings when harsher conditions on the range existed. According to 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27: Significantly as used in NEPA requires considerations of both context and intensity: 
This means that the significance of an action must be analyzed in several contexts such as society as a whole (human, national), the affected region, the affected interests, and the locality. Significance varies with the setting of the proposed action. For instance, in the case of a site-specific action, significance would usually depend upon the effects in the locale rather than in the world as a whole. Both short- and long-term effects are relevant.


Thus, because the NEPA does require that federal agencies like the BLM “produce an EIS that rigorously explores and objectively evaluates all reasonable alternatives so that the agency can sharply define the issues and provide a clear basis for choice among options by the decision makers and the public to consider alternative to the proposed action”, the lower courts decision should clearly be overturned because this BLM is in clear violation.  Kootenai Tribe of Idaho v. Veneman, 313 F.3d 1094, 1120 (9th Cir.2002) (citing 40 C.F.R. § 1502.14).

The NSI statement claimed that since the Gather Plan is not a major Federal action that would significantly impact the quality of the human environment, individually or cumulative with other actions in the general area, and EIS was not required. See NIS, 3. This is simply not true. The EA obviously stated significant short-term impact on multiple areas of the environment including damage to the RMWHR during the Gather Plan process.  


The Court erroneously concluded that Plaintiffs’ claims regarding NEPA would not succeed on the merits because they did not scientifically prove there could be environmental problems with the Gather Plan. Thus, BLM violated the requirements of the NEPA.

C. An Agency Must Rely on Accurate Scientific Analysis, Expert Agency Comments, and Public Scrutiny When Implementing NEPA.

To take the required “hard look” at a proposed project's effects, an agency may not rely on incorrect assumptions or data in an EIS. 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b) (“Accurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny are essential to implementing NEPA.”). By the BLM's estimate, the methods used to round up the horses will not cause serious harm; however, these are experimental weapons that have not been tested on horses before. (R. 11.). The agency is required to “insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity, of the discussions and analyses in environmental impact statements.” 40 C.F.R. § 1502.24. The BLM did not do any testing on these experimental weapons and their affects on the horses meaning there is no certainty that these weapons are safe. Consequently, the Gather Plan EIS did not provide a “full and fair” discussion of the potential effects of the Plan on the range horses and did not “inform decision makers and the public of the reasonable alternatives which would avoid or minimize adverse impacts” on the range horses. Klamath-Siskiyou Wildlands Ctr. v. Bureau of Land Mgmt., 387 F.3d 989, 993 (9th Cir.2004) (quoting 40 C.F.R. § 1502.1); see also Animal Def. Council v. Hodel, 840 F.2d 1432, 1439 (9th Cir.1988) ( “Where the information in the initial EIS was so incomplete or misleading that the decisionmaker and the public could not make an informed comparison of the alternatives, revision of an EIS may be necessary to provide a reasonable, good faith, and objective presentation of the subjects required by NEPA.”) (internal quotation marks omitted), amended by 867 F.2d 1244 (9th Cir.1989).

III. The District Court erred when it held that the balance of hardships did not favor Plaintiffs. 

A. The Balance of Equities and the Public Interest Favors the Protection of the Horses Because the Preliminary Injunction Would Not Impose a Significant Burden on the BLM's Ability to Conduct Its Management and Prosperity of the RMWHR.

Alarmed at decline of the wild horse herds, Congress in 1971 enacted the Wild Free-Roaming Horses and Burros Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1331-1340 (1982), to protect the wild horses and burros from “capture, branding, harassment, or death.” Id. § 1331. According to congressional findings, these “living symbols of the historic and pioneer spirit of the West” had been cruelly slain, used for target practice, and harassed for sport. S.Rep. No. 242, 92d Cong., 1st Sess., reprinted in 1971 U.S.Code Cong. & Ad.News 2149, 2149. Congress also found that the wild horses and burros had been exploited by commercial hunters who sold them to slaughterhouses for the production of pet food and fertilizer. Id.

Established under authority granted Congress by the Property Clause of the Constitution, the Act declares wild horses and burros to be “an integral part of the natural system of the public lands,” 16 U.S.C. § 1331 (1982), and mandates that the animals be managed “as components of the public lands.” Id. § 1333(a).


The balance of equities and the public interest favors the protection of the horses because the preliminary injunction would not in fact impose a significant burden on the BLM's ability to conduct its management and prosperity of the RMWHR. The BLM's concerns about the preliminary injunction are “speculative” because the BLM used out of date data for 1992 to determine the optimal number of horses for the RMWHR. (R. 2.). The lower court failed to properly take into consideration the affect on the RMWHR of removing all of the horses from the range and the negative impact of the weapons used to complete this process. 

The preliminary injunction requires the BLM to merely defer moving forward with the wild horse removal plan and ensures that these living symbols of the historic and pioneer spirit of the West are preserved for enjoyment for generations to come. Recreational activities have increased steadily over the past few years to see the wild range horses. During the indeterminate period of time the horses are genetically inspected, no sight-seeing will take place. After 90 horses are returned to the range, limited sight-seeing will occur. 


Hunting is a major economically prosperous activity for the RMWHR. If the Gather Plan proceeds, it will completely halt hunting for an indefinite period of time. Additionally, opportunities to view and photograph large groups of wild horses would be diminished because excess horses would be removed from the range See The Environmental Assessment, 12 (No. 09-1968). Also, special recreation permits are becoming more prevalent as more people pay for the opportunity to participate in guided and organized activities on public lands. Wild horse photography tours, viewing tours, and cattle drives are the primary recreation-permitted activity. See The Environmental Assessment, 12 (No. 09-1968). The Gather Plan would cause a major economic impact to revenue generated from permits obtained relating to activities of the range horses.

Such hindrance on recreational activity and revenue demonstrates a completely opposing viewpoint to the Court’s determination that the Gather Plan should occur based on considerations of the multi-use nature of the range. The balance of equalities for the overall public interest is not established in favor of the commencement of the Gather Plan and the preliminary injunction should clearly be granted. 

CONCLUSION


The lower court clearly misinterpreted the meaning of the term “removal” in considering whether the complete removal of all 190 range horses violated the WFHBA. The term “removal” should be applied to all 190 range horses instead of the lower courts’ use of the term “removal” in only with regards to the final number of horses permanently removed from the range after completion of the Gather Plan. The Gather Plan describes the removal of all 190 horses from the range for an indefinite period of time which requires the term “removal” to be applied to all of the range horses.


BLM violates the WFHBA in two major ways. First, BLM is not humanely removing or destroying sick, old, or lame horses. Instead, BLM is removing all of the horses from the range regardless of their health or age which is clearly what Congress had not intended by creating this statute. Thus, BLM is obviously violating § 1333(b)(2). Second, by BLM removing all horses from RMWHR instead of only those horses properly labeled “excess” as designated in the Appropriate Management Level (AML), BLM is again in clear violation of § 1333(b)(2). By creating this statute, it was Congress’s clear intention to only permit the removal of sick, old, lame or excess horses and not all of them.

BLM violated the NEPA by failing to consider all pertinent direct and indirect effects of the Gather Plan in its EA and FONSI, including (1) the removal of 190 horses from the RMWHR; (2) the ultimate reduction in herd size by 100 horses; and (3) the methods used for the round-up. (R. 10.). The BLM improperly concluded that a comprehensive EIS was not required because the Gather Plan would not significantly affect the human environment.

The Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Ninth Division of the California Court of Appeals reverse the District Court’s finding and grant the preliminary injunction to prevent the Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) from moving forward with a wild horse removal plan.
� The Administrative Procedure Act provides: “To the extent necessary to decision and when presented, the reviewing court shall decide all relevant questions of law, interpret constitutional and statutory provisions, and determine the meaning or applicability of the terms of an agency action. The reviewing court shall: hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings, and conclusions found to be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.


� In American Horse Protection Ass'n, Inc. v. Watt, the district court held it would violate the National Environmental Policy Act for the Agency to proceed with the roundup before completing the EIS. In a separate 1974 proceeding before a different judge, the district court had ordered BLM to prepare an EIS addressing the Challis and related range management plans. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc. v. Morton, 388 F.Supp. 829 (D.D.C.1974), aff'd, 527 F.2d 1386 (D.C.Cir.1976); cf. American Horse Protection Ass'n v. Andrus, 608 F.2d 811 (9th Cir.1979) (wild horse roundup potentially a major federal action requiring preparation of an EIS prior to action).





PAGE  
ii

